Witness CCS – 5 D Dismukes Cost of Service/Rate Design Exhibit CCS – 5 D Dismukes Cost of Service/Rate Design

BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH

In the Matter of the Application of)	Docket No. 07-057-13
Questar Gas Company to Increase)	Pre-filed Direct Testimony of
Distribution Non-Gas Rates and)	David E. Dismukes, Ph.D.
Charges and Make Tariff Modifications))	For the Committee of Consumer Services

August 18, 2008

Table of Contents

I.	Introduction	. 4
II.	Summary of Recommendations	. 5
III.	Class Cost of Service Study	. 8
A	. Purpose	. 8
B	. Disagreements With the Company's Cost of Service Study	11
С	. Rate Schedules Excluded from Cost of Service Study	12
D	. Cost of Service Study Conducted Under Proposed Rate Structure	19
E.	. Reference Error in Cost of Service Study	21
F.	Alternative Allocation Factors	21
G	. Summary of CCOSS Recommendations	31
IV.	Rate Design	33
A	. Rate Design Objectives	33
B	. Basic Service Fee	34
С	. General Service	40
D	. Winter-Summer Rate Differentials	46
E.	. Natural Gas Vehicle Rates and Leasing Program	47
F.	Extension Charges	51
G	Rate Design Recommendations	62

List of Exhibits

- CCS-5.1: Questar Gas Company, Comparison of Cost Allocation Factors
- CCS-5.2: Questar Gas Company, Cost of Service Results Comparison
- CCS-5.3: Questar Gas Company, Direct Assignment of CIAC
- CCS-5.4: Questar Gas Company, Cost of Service Results Company
- CCS-5.5: Questar Gas Company, Cost of Service Results CCS Recommended
- CCS-5.6: Questar Gas Company, Comparison of Current and Proposed Basic Service Fees
- CCS-5.7: Questar Gas Company, BSF Company Recommended Methodology
- CCS-5.8: CNG Price Differential
- CCS-5.9: CNG Price Differential, State Comparison
- CCS-5.10: Natural Gas Fuel Price versus Gasoline and Diesel
- CCS-5.11: Questar Gas Company, Analysis of Main and Line Extension Policy

1 I. Introduction

2 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR NAME AND BUSINESS 3 ADDRESS?

4 A. My name is David E. Dismukes. My business address is 6455 Overton
5 Street, Baton Rouge, Louisiana.

Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE STATE YOUR OCCUPATION AND CURRENT 7 PLACE OF EMPLOYMENT?

A. I am a Consulting Economist with Acadian Consulting Group ("ACG"), a
research and consulting firm that specializes in the analysis of regulatory,
economic, financial, accounting, statistical, and public policy issues
associated with regulated and energy industries. ACG is a Louisianaregistered partnership, formed in 1995, and is located in Baton Rouge,
Louisiana, with additional staff in Los Angeles, California, and Fallon,
Nevada.

15Q.HAVE YOU PREPARED ANY ATTACHMENTS TO YOUR TESTIMONY16OUTLINING YOUR QUALIFICATIONS IN ENERGY AND REGULATED

- 17 **INDUSTRIES?**
- A. Yes. Attachment 1 to my testimony provides my vita that includes a full
 listing of my publications, presentations, and pre-filed expert witness
 testimony, expert reports, expert legislative testimony, and affidavits.
- 21 Q. WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF YOUR TESTIMONY?
- A. I have been retained by the Utah Committee of Consumer Services
 ("Committee") to review the rate design and class cost of service issues in

the rate application submitted by Questar Gas Company ("Questar,"
"QGC," or "the Company").

26 Q. HOW IS THE REMAINDER OF YOUR TESTIMONY ORGANIZED?

- A. My testimony is organized into the following sections:
- Section II: Summary of Recommendations
- Section III: Class Cost of Service
- 30 Section IV: Rate Design
- 31 II. <u>Summary of Recommendations</u>

32 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE SUMMARIZE YOUR COST OF SERVICE
 33 RECOMMENDATIONS?

- A. I recommend the following regarding the Company's Class Cost of ServiceStudy (CCOSS).
- The Commission should order the Company to provide a cost of service
 study in its next general rate case that includes all customers and all
 customer classes as separate rate classes.
- The Commission should require the Company to file its CCOSS using its
 current rate classes in future rate cases.
- The Commission should adopt the following alternative allocation factors:
- For small distribution mains, service lines and meters and
 regulators, a 75 percent weight on the distribution plant factor
 and a 25 percent weight on the throughput factor should be
 adopted.

- For main feeder lines, compressor station equipment and
 measuring and regulation station equipment a factor of 50
 percent demand and 50 percent throughput should be adopted.
- 49 CIAC should be directly assigned to the class that made the
 50 contributions.
- A&G expenses should be allocated using a factor consisting of
 75 percent O&M expense and 25 percent distribution
 throughput.
- Income taxes should be allocated based upon taxable income
 for each rate schedule.
- Revenue credits should be allocated on the basis of total cost to
 serve each class.

58Q.HOWWILLTHESEPROPOSEDCHANGESIMPACTTHE59DISTRIBUTION OF THE PROPOSED REVENUE DEFICIENCY?

60 A. If my CCOS recommendations are adopted, the distribution of the 61 proposed revenue deficiency (based upon full cost of service) will tend to move away from the current GS-1 customers, and towards the remaining 62 63 customer classes. Further, the need for a gradualism adjustment, as 64 proposed by the Company, will be eliminated. Instead, the GSR and GSC 65 show a small revenue sufficiency and the remaining classes show a revenue deficiency. I recommend that the revenue sufficiency of the GSR 66 67 and GSC classes be distributed proportionately to the revenue deficiency 68 of the remaining classes.

69 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE SUMMARIZE YOUR RATE DESIGN 70 RECOMMENDATIONS?

- A I am making the following rate design recommendations:
- The Commission should reject the Company's proposals to
 increase the BSF.
- The Company's proposal to split the GS-1 class into GS-R and GS C components should be modified to one that splits the class into a
 GS and GS-L rate schedule.
- All customers with maximum monthly usage of 100 Dth or less
 would take service under the new GS rate schedule.
- All former GS-1 customers with maximum monthly usage above
 100 Dth would take service under the new GS-L rate schedule.
- Uniform rates (on dollar per Dth basis) for the GS and GS-L classes
 should be adopted.
- 83 The relative seasonal differential for my proposed GS and GS-L 84 class should be proportional to the first and second blocks of the 85 former GS-1 rate structure. In other words, even with a new rate 86 design proposal, the relative difference in the summer winter 87 differentials should be preserved, not expanded (i.e., there should 88 not be greater summer discounts). Thus, the GS class summer-89 winter differential should be at roughly 19 percent while the 90 differential for the GS-L class should be approximately 33 percent.

- The natural gas vehicle equipment lease program should be
 eliminated.
- NGV rate should be moved towards full cost of service. The
 Commission should examine the full cost of service for the other
 classes excluded from the cost of service study to determine if any
 movement to full cost of service is desirable.
- Line extension allowances should be reduced by one-third.
- 98 III. Class Cost of Service Study
- 99 A. Purpose

100 Q. WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF A CLASS COST OF SERVICE STUDY?

- 101 A CCOSS is a method by which utility costs and revenues are reconciled Α. 102 across different customer classes. The goal of the study is to determine 103 the cost of providing service to each class and the contribution, in terms of 104 revenues, that each class makes to those costs. The results of this 105 analysis produce a rate of return and revenue requirement for each 106 individual rate class. As a result, the CCOSS can be used as a tool in 107 developing the revenue responsibility for each rate class when designing 108 rates.
- 109 **Q.**

HOW IS A CCOSS CONDUCTED?

A. Generally, costs are first identified based on the function for which they
are incurred. However, since the provision of many utility services can be
the result of joint and common costs, as well as costs that are not easily
identifiable to one function alone, a method of cost and revenue allocation

must be developed. One of the first steps in a CCOSS is to determine if
there are any costs or revenues that are easily identified to one class.
These costs and revenues are then "directly-assigned." The remaining
costs are allocated to customer classes using various allocation factors
designed to identify demand, commodity, and customer-related costs.

119 Q. WHAT PRINCIPLES ARE FOLLOWED WHEN PERFORMING A CLASS 120 COST OF SERVICE STUDY?

A. Generally, costs are allocated to customer classes based upon the concept of "cost causation," but as noted earlier, a number of allocation factors need to be estimated in order to spread a variety of different types of costs to different customer classes. This process can often involve a considerable degree of subjectivity and opinion regarding the type and nature of cost-causation.

127 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE DEFINE THE THREE MAJOR TYPES OF 128 COSTS ALLOCATED IN A CCOSS?

129 Α. Yes. Demand-related costs are associated with meeting maximum gas 130 flow requirements, such as transmission and distribution mains, or more 131 localized distribution facilities that are designed to satisfy individual 132 customer maximum demands. Gas supply contracts can also have a 133 capacity component and are considered demand-related. Commodity-134 related costs are defined as those that change with throughput sold or 135 transported for customers as well as those associated with measuring 136 throughput. Lastly, customer-related costs are incurred to connect

- 137 customers to the distribution system, meter usage, and perform customer
- 138 functions.

139 Q. DID THE COMPANY CLASSIFY COSTS AND DEVELOP ALLOCATION

140 **FACTORS?**

145

149

154

157

162

- 141 A. The Company's proposed allocation factors are based upon the following
- 142 categories and definitions:
- 143Direct Assignment: Associated with revenues only where144actual revenues were assigned to each customer class.
- 146Revenue Factors: Utilized to allocate revenues from those147classes that were excluded from direct examination in the148CCOSS.
- 150 Expense Factors: Developed within the CCOSS that were in
 151 turn used to allocate other general expenses like internal gas
 152 use, gas used for compression, and allocation of the value of
 153 interruptible gas purchased.
- 155Plant Factors: Method by which most plant in service (rate156base) is allocated as well as related expenses.
- Volumetric Factors: Utilized to allocate some expenses and
 some utility plant.
- 161 Customer Factors: Allocates customer-related costs.
- 163 Taxes: Used to allocate taxes.
- 165 Q. HAVE YOU PREPARED AN EXHIBIT WHICH COMPARES THE
- 166 ALLOCATION FACTORS THAT YOU RECOMMEND TO THE ONES
- 167 **PROPOSED BY THE COMPANY?**
- A. Yes, Exhibit CCS-5.1 shows on an account by account basis, the
 allocation factors proposed by the Company compared to the ones that I
 recommend. This exhibit is organized in the same manner as the cost of

service study. It presents the revenue accounts, expense accounts, and
the rate base accounts. The first column lists the account name and the
second and third columns compare the Company's proposed allocation
method with mine.

175 Q. THERE HAVE BEEN SEVERAL CLASS COSTS OF SERVICE STUDIES

176 FILED IN THIS CASE. WHAT STUDY HAVE YOU EXAMINED?

A. Over the course of this proceeding, I have examined each of the studies
prepared by the Company. My recommendations however, are based
upon the Company's CCOSS with the file name "Revised Ordered %
Inc_06_27.xls." In preparing this study, the Company has included the
revenue requirement approved by the Commission, and has corrected for
errors found in earlier analyses.

183 B. Disagreements With the Company's Cost of Service Study

184 Q. CAN YOU DISCUSS YOUR DISAGREEMENTS WITH THE COMPANY'S

185 **PROPOSED CCOSS?**

A. Yes. First, I disagree with the Company's exclusion of several rate schedules from its cost of service study. Second, the Company developed its CCOSS assuming that its proposed rate class restructuring is adopted by the Commission. Such an approach leaves the Commission (and other parties) in the position of being unable to determine the rate of return achieved by each class under the current rate schedules. Third, there appears to be a reference error in the Company's COSS workpapers that

193 needs to be corrected. Fourth, I disagree with several allocation factors194 used by the Company.

195 C. Rate Schedules Excluded from Cost of Service Study

196Q.WOULD YOU DISCUSS YOUR FIRST DISAGREEMENT -- THE197EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN RATE SCHEDULES, CUSTOMER CLASSES198AND ONE CONTRACT CUSTOMER FROM THE COST OF SERVICE199STUDY?

A. Yes. The Company excluded the following rate schedules from its cost of
service study: GSS (General Service Expansion), FT-1 and FT-1L (Firm
Transportation), FT-2C (Firm Transportation Contract Customer), NGV
(Natural Gas Vehicles), and MT (Municipal Transportation). The revenues
from these rate schedules are allocated to the other classes and therefore
reduce their revenue requirement. According to the Company, this is
consistent with the methodology used in past cases.¹

207 Q. DID THE COMPANY PROVIDE ANY FURTHER EXPLANATION ABOUT

208 WHY IT EXCLUDED THESE RATE SCHEDULES?

A. No it did not. However, the FT-1 rate schedule was established in Docket
No. 99-057-20 for customers that have alternative transportation options.
It was considered a bypass rate for certain customers. In that proceeding
eligibility was limited to customers having annual usage of more than 4
million decatherms ("Dths") or annual usage of at least 100,000 Dth and a

¹ Robinson Updated Testimony, Lines 166-173.

location within five miles of an interstate pipeline.² Currently, these same
 requirements exist today and are proposed to remain the same in this
 proceeding.³

217 Q. WHAT ABOUT THE MUNICIPAL RATE SCHEDULE?

A. The MT rate class was established by stipulation on October 26, 1999, in Docket No. 98-057-01.⁴ In Docket No. 98-057-01, there were no customers taking service under this tariff.⁵ In the Company's last rate case, Docket No. 02-057-02, there was no discussion about the MT rate in Commission's Order approving the settlement.⁶ It appears from a review of prior Commission orders that the cost of serving this customer class has never been examined.

225 Q. WHAT ABOUT THE NGV CLASS?

A. The cost to serve this class was last done in Docket No. 89-057-15 and the rate was established in 1990.⁷ In response to CCS Data Request 16.04 the Company explained: "The original NGV rate established in Docket 89-057-15 was a cost based rate based on the [levelized] cost of service of NGV compression facilities over their expected life. Since that time, they have been treated as a revenue credit in the cost of service and the rate has been percentage-changed with each change in DNG rates."⁸

⁵ Ibid.

² Questar Exhibit 9.5, p. 5-8.

³ Ibid.

⁴ Commission Order 99-057-20, p. 45.

⁶ Commission Order 02-057-02.

 $^{^{7}}$ Response to CCS 16.04 and DPU 32.04.

⁸ Response to CCS 16.04.

233 Thus, it would appear that the true cost to serve this class has either not 234 been examined or it has not been examined in nearly twenty years.

235 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COMPANY'S TREATMENT OF THESE 236 RATE CLASSES?

237 Α. No. If the Company is basing its rate increase proposal upon the results of 238 its CCOSS for purposes of determining the revenue requirement of each 239 class, then there is no reason why certain classes should be excluded. 240 This information is critical in determining the benefits or costs that each of 241 these classes contributes to the overall system. Further, the cost of many 242 of these classes has either never been examined, or examined well nearly 243 two decades ago. Continuing to exclude these customers from a CCOSS 244 makes no sense and potentially exacerbates the Commission's and 245 parties' understanding of these classes' contribution to the overall cost of 246 service.

Q. DO YOU DISAGREE WITH THE PREMISE THAT THERE SHOULD BE DISCOUNTED RATES FOR CUSTOMERS THAT HAVE SIGNIFICANT BYPASS OPTIONS?

A. It is difficult to answer this question since the degree to which these rates
are discounted relative to full cost of service is unknown. This leaves the
Commission, as well as other parties to this proceeding, operating in an
informational vacuum.

254 Q. DID THE COMMITTEE REQUEST INFORMATION THAT MAY

255 FACILITATE THE DEVELOPMENT OF A COST OF SERVICE

256 ESTIMATE FOR THESE OMITTED CLASSES?

- A. Yes the Committee did ask, but the Company stated in Response to CCS
- 258 Data Request 22.03 that it could not produce the distribution plant
- allocation factors (small distribution mains, services and meters) for these
- 260 classes. Specifically, the Company noted that:

261The referenced data was not prepared for the test period262due to the exclusion of these rate classes from the cost of263service study. To create some of the allocation factors264needed to include them in the cost of service study, the265Company would need to start the study over again, which266would take several months.9

268 Q. DO YOU HAVE ANY INITIAL CCOSS RECOMMENDATIONS

269 **REGARDING THESE OMITTED CLASSES?**

267

- 270 A. Yes, I recommend that the Commission order the Company to provide a
- 271 cost of service study in its next general rate case that includes all
- 272 customers and all customer classes. This will allow the Commission to
- fully examine the cost of serving these classes and weigh these costs
- against the benefits provided by the customers.

275 Q. DESPITE THIS INFORMATIONAL SHORTCOMING WERE YOU ABLE

- 276 TO ESTIMATE THE COST TO SERVE THE FIRM TRANSPORTATION
- 277 CUSTOMERS THAT WERE NOT MOVED TO THE INTERRUPTIBLE
- 278 TRANSPORTATION CLASS?

⁹ Response to CCS 22.03.

279 Α. Yes, but only in part. I was not able to perform a complete allocation of all 280 of the costs to these rate schedules (FT-1, FT-1L and FT-2C) because the 281 Company did not develop allocation factors for services, meters, and 282 regulators for these customers. Thus, these costs have been excluded 283 from the analysis. The remaining costs (i.e., expenses, and rate base 284 items that contained throughput as an allocation factor) were allocated 285 using the Company's proposed methodology. Based upon these 286 assumptions, I estimate that these rate schedules, if combined into one 287 class, under existing rates, produced a negative rate of return of 7.7 288 percent. However, it is important to note that most meters and regulators 289 and services that should be allocated to this class were not because the 290 Company did not include them in its Distribution Plant Factor Study. In the 291 future, the Company should generate its cost of service study with 292 complete results for all classes and customers.

293 Q. WERE YOU ALSO ABLE TO FORM AN ESTIMATE FOR THE COST TO 294 SERVE THE NGV CLASS?

A. No, I was not. There was insufficient information contained in the
Company's class cost of service study and workpapers to develop a
meaningful estimate. However, in response to DPU's Data Requests
32.05 and 32.08, the company produced a breakeven cost of \$1.68 per
gas gallon equivalent or \$13.96 per dekatherm. In an updated response
to DPU Data Request 32.05, the Company indicated that full cost of
service for the NGV class is \$1.75 per gas gallon equivalent or \$14.61 per

302 dekatherm. However, it is not clear that all common costs have been303 adequately considered in the cost of service estimate.

304 Q HOW DID THE COMPANY ALLOCATE COSTS FOR THESE OMITTED 305 CLASSES WITHOUT A SEPERATE COST OF SERVICE ANALYSES?

306 The costs associated with the GSS, MT, NGV, FT-1 and FT-2C customer А 307 classes were simply included, or rolled into the costs of the remaining rate 308 schedules. Other things being equal, this would have the effect of inflating 309 each of the remaining customer classes' cost of service. The Company 310 has however, attempted to offset these over-allocated costs through a 311 revenue credit approach that seemingly helps to reduce the overall 312 revenue requirement.¹⁰ This revenue credit approach simply assigns the 313 revenues from the omitted classes to those for which cost of service 314 estimates are being developed.

315 Q. CAN YOU FURTHER EXPLAIN HOW THE COMPANY ALLOCATED 316 REVENUES FROM THE OMITTED CUSTOMER CLASSES?

317 Yes. The Company allocated the revenues from the GSS, MT, NGV, FT-1 Α. 318 and FT-2 Special Contract (FT-2C) rate schedules based upon test year 319 DNG revenue. Thus, each class, for which the cost of service was 320 estimated, received a pro-rata share of the omitted classes' revenues. In 321 theory, this should result in a proportional offset to the remaining classes' 322 cost of service (i.e., proportional to the over-allocated costs in each 323 classes' estimated cost responsibility). The allocation of GSS class 324 revenues, however, was the one exception to this rule. The GSS

¹⁰ Response to CCS 8.12.

325 revenues were directly assigned to the GS-1 class since these customers 326 are entirely residential and commercial. However, this class, in turn, was 327 separated into separate residential (GS-R) and (GS-C) commercial 328 classes using a "Residential Commercial DNG" allocation factor.

329 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COMPANY'S REVENUE CREDIT 330 ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY?

331 No. The only way an approach of this nature would be truly offsetting is if Α. 332 the method for allocating revenues were the same as the method used by 333 the Company to allocate costs. Yet that is not the case under the 334 Company's CCOSS approach. The Company's method effectively 335 allocates the revenues based upon the Commission's last rate case 336 determination of the revenue distribution and rates. The approach would 337 also account for growth as well as the implementation of the CET since 338 the last rate case. This adjusted revenue distribution is different, however, 339 from the Company's current CCOSS proposals which allocates costs and 340 differs from the last rate case.

341 Q. WHAT ARE YOUR RECOMMENDATIONS?

A. To correct this mismatch, I recommend that the Commission distribute these revenue credits using a cost of service factor (i.e., a factor that consists of the allowed net operating income plus expenses). It is my opinion that using a COS Factor will result in a more appropriate allocation of revenue credits since this allocator will tend to match how costs are

347 estimated for the respective customer classes. In other words, by using a
348 COS Factor, revenues will be allocated in the same fashion as costs.

349 D. Cost of Service Study Conducted Under Proposed Rate Structure

350 Q. WOULD YOU DISCUSS THE NEXT CONCERN WITH THE COMPANY'S

- 351 **CCOSS?**
- 352 Α. Yes. While each rate case can be unique, there is usually a certain path 353 along which rate case application is prepared. Generally a cost of service 354 model is developed to estimate achieved class rates of return in the test 355 year. It is usually the case that the CCOSS is developed on existing rates 356 not (at least initially) on proposed rates. The Company's CCOSS results, 357 however, are presented exclusively on a proposed class structure, not on 358 the existing structure. In doing so, the Company has effectively prevented 359 the Commission from examining the cost to serve the existing customer 360 classes under the existing and proposed revenue distribution.

361 Q. CAN YOU GIVE AN EXAMPLE OF HOW THIS PRESENTS A 362 PROBLEM?

A. Yes. One of the Company's proposed rate design changes includes
moving customers from the current FT-2 rate schedule to a proposed TS
rate schedule. The former class consists of firm transportation customers
while the latter consists of interruptible transportation customers. The FT-2
customers pay more per Dth than the TS customers. Specifically, the FT-2
customers' test year average revenue per Dth was \$0.2070. The TS
customers' average revenue per Dth was \$0.1528. By combining these

370 two classes, the rate of return resulting from the class cost of service 371 study is higher than it would be for the TS class if it were not combined 372 with the FT-2 class. If the Commission does not agree with the 373 Company's proposal to combine these two classes, it might allocate an 374 unnecessarily small rate increase to the TS class because the rate of 375 return for the combined class is higher than the rate of return for the TS 376 class alone.

WHAT ARE THE IMPLICATIONS OF UTILIZING A CCOSS BASED ON THE PROPOSED CUSTOMER CLASSES AS OPPOSED TO THE EXISTING CLASSES?

A. If the Commission relies entirely, or even partly, on the Company's
 CCOSS to develop the class revenue distribution in this proceeding, it
 runs the risk of either understating or overstating any given classes'
 revenue requirement. This is especially true if the Commission does not
 adopt the Company's proposals for consolidating rate classes since the
 original CCOSS is not known.

386 Q. DOES THE COMPANY'S CCOSS ON PROPOSED RATES SERVE ANY

387 USEFUL PURPOSE?

A. Yes, it is instructive in examining the potential class rates of return under
the numerous rate design proposals offered by the Company. However,
its usefulness is limited since it lacks a reference point. That is, how does
the cost of service for the newly proposed rate structure compare with
rates currently in effect?

393 Q. WHAT DO YOU RECOMMEND?

A. I recommend that the Commission require the Company to file its CCOSS
using its current rate classes in its future rate cases. If the Company
chooses to do an additional CCOSS for any proposed rate classes, that
analysis should be welcome, but not as a substitute for the primary filing
requirement that the CCOSS be based upon the current rate structure.

399 E. Reference Error in Cost of Service Study

400 Q. WOULD YOU DESCRIBE THE REFERENCE ERROR CONTAINED IN 401 THE CCOSS?

- A. Yes. In developing the allocation factor for customer assistance expense,
 the Company's workpapers included an incorrect link ("reference") to the
 supporting spreadsheet. In response to CCS Data Request 22.12, the
 Company supplied the correct allocation percentages, and I have included
 these in my recommendations.
- 407 **F.** Alternative Allocation Factors

408Q.WOULD YOU PLEASE DISCUSS YOUR DISAGREEMENTS WITH THE409COMPANY'S PROPOSED ALLOCATION FACTORS?

A. Yes. My first disagreement is with the factor used to allocate small
distribution mains. To develop this factor the Company conducted a
special study of the major components of its distribution plant. This study,
called the "distribution plant factor study," visually examined meters,
regulators, service lines, and small diameter main lines (6 inches and

415 smaller in diameter). This allocation factor is important since its results
416 impacts approximately 70 percent of the distribution non-gas costs.¹¹

417 Q. WOULD YOU BRIEFLY DESCRIBE THIS STUDY?

A. Yes. The distribution plant factor study is based upon a sample of
smaller-sized meters and the entire population of larger meters. Meter
proximity was then compared to major infrastructure categories to develop
a proxy for cost-causality.

422 Q. HOW DID THE COMPANY DETERMINE THE AMOUNT OF THE MAIN 423 ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SAMPLED METERS?

424 Α. The Company examined main lines within 1,000 feet of a service tap 425 point, which generally translated into 500 feet in each direction. The 426 Company recorded the length of each size of main line within the 1,000 427 feet using a manual process of measuring distance with actual hard 428 copies of system maps. This literally involved a process of looking at a 429 map, locating a meter, and using a ruler to measure distance. From there, 430 the number of mains within the relevant proximity were counted and 431 tabulated as being associated with the meter being examined. In addition 432 to mains, the Company also measured/counted the number of service 433 taps within the 1,000 feet of a given meter. The Company explained that it 434 selected 1,000 feet in order to capture the character of the area 435 surrounding a customer, including street crossings.¹² The Company then

¹¹ Bateson Updated Testimony, Lines 52-54.

¹² Bateson Updated Testimony, Lines 126-130.

estimated the current cost of the meters and regulators associated witheach meter.

438 Q. HOW DID THE COMPANY ESTABLISH THE CURRENT COST 439 LEVELS?

440 Α. The Company explained that current costs for intermediate-high-pressure 441 ("IHP") main and service lines were taken from pricing in effect for 2007, 442 weighted by the footage installed in 2006. Current costs for high-pressure 443 service lines were based upon recent projects. The current cost of meters 444 was based on engineering estimates.¹³ After the Company determined 445 the current cost of the three items of plant, it created an adjustment factor, 446 based upon the ratio of total embedded cost to current cost, to convert 447 current costs to embedded costs for each rate class.¹⁴

448 Q. WHAT COSTS ARE ALLOCATED USING DISTRIBUTION PLANT 449 FACTORS?

A. The costs of small distribution mains, services, and meters and regulators
are allocated on the distribution plant factor. In addition, some
components of rate base are allocated on distribution plant and as a
result, are based upon the distribution plant factors. For example, land
and land rights costs are allocated using an internally-generated factor
that consists of all components of directly-allocated distribution plant.
Operating expenses are also allocated using these factors.

457Q.ARE YOU DISPUTING THE COMPANY'S DEVELOPMENT OF ITS458DISTRIBUTION PLANT FACTORS AND THE STUDY IT CONDUCTED?

¹³ Bateson Updated Testimony, Lines 145-149.

¹⁴ Ibid., Lines 188-199.

459 Α. No, I am not. However, as is evident from the description above, and the 460 evidence provided by the Company, the process used to develop these 461 factors was very manual and involved significant amounts of paper 462 records, creating some concerns about its accuracy as well as 463 interpretation. Because of this, as well as other reasons that I will discuss 464 later, I am recommending that the Commission use a combination of the 465 Company's study, as well as other causative factors, in developing final 466 allocation factors for distribution plant costs.

467Q.CANYOUEXPLAINYOURDISTRIBUTIONPLANT468RECOMMENDATIONS IN GREATER DETAIL?

469 Α. Yes. For small distribution mains, service lines, and meters and 470 regulators, I recommend that the Commission place 75 percent weight on 471 the distribution plant factor proposed by the Company and 25 percent 472 weight on the throughput (Dth) factor. Placing a 25 percent throughput 473 weight on the overall distribution plant factor recognizes the fact that the 474 cost of mains, services, meters and regulators are incurred for the 475 purpose of distributing gas to customers and can have some volumetric 476 considerations. For example, mains are installed to both provide gas to a 477 large group of customers, as well as move a large volume of gas, 478 throughout the year. Meters are necessary to measure the Dths used by 479 customers.

480QDOANYOFTHECOMPANY'SPOLICIESRECOGNIZETHIS481ADDITIONAL CAUSALITY?

482	А	Yes, the Company's main extension policy for commercial customers
483		provides a construction allowance based upon customer Dth volumes.
484		Specially, the Company's extension policy states:
485 486 487		The Company will extend a main at no cost to the applicant if the cost does not exceed that determined by the following allowance formula:
488		2.5 ((TxN) + BSF
489		Where T = Estimated annual usage in Dth
490		N = Non-gas-cost rate component in \$/Dth
491		BSF = Total yearly Basic Service Fee
492 493 494 495		If the main extension cost exceeds the allowed cost, the applicant will pay to the Company a cash contribution in aid of construction equal to the difference between the cost and the allowance. ¹⁵
496		Since its main extension policy recognizes usage (throughput), it is
497		only reasonable that the costs associated with mains include some
498		volumetric component. Exhibit CCS-5.2 shows the results on modifying
499		the allocation factor relative to the Company's proposed cost of service
500		study results. As shown, the residential class rate of return would increase
501		from 7.11 percent to 8.40 percent. All other classes' rates of return would
502		decrease. The largest change is shown for the firm service class (FS) with
503		its rate of return declining from 5.84 percent to negative 0.17 percent.
504	Q.	WHAT OTHER DISTRIBUTION ALLOCATION FACTORS ARE YOU
505		RECOMMENDING?
506	Α.	I am also recommending an alternative allocation factor for the costs of
507		main feeder lines, compressor station equipment, and measuring and

¹⁵ Questar, Exhibit 9.5, p. 9-7.

508 regulation station equipment. The Company proposes an allocation that 509 consists of 60 percent peak demand and 40 percent throughput. 510 recommend a factor that consists of 50 percent demand and 50 percent 511 throughput. A 50-50 allocation is more consistent with the methodology 512 utilized by the Company in its last rate case (Docket No. 02-057-02).¹⁶ In 513 addition, in the last rate case that did not result in a settlement, the 514 Commission established a weighting of 71 percent throughput and 29 515 percent peak. All cases subsequent to this one have settled and there 516 has been no determination by the Commission of the appropriate 517 weighting. The Company has not provided any convincing evidence to 518 support changing this weighting.

519Q.WHAT RATIONALE DID THE COMPANY PROVIDE FOR CHANGING520THESE RELATIVE WEIGHTS?

A. In response to CCS Data Request 25.07, the Company gave the followingreason for changing its weights:

523 The distribution facilities and the costs that are related to the 524 functions subject to the 60/40 weighting include highregulation, 525 pressure feeder mains. system system 526 measurement and system compression. These facilities fulfill 527 a two-part function. They are designed to meet the peak 528 requirements of firm customers, and they are used 365 days 529 of the year to move gas to all customers, both firm and 530 interruptible. The allocation of these costs does not lend 531 itself to a single definitive solution. On the one hand it has 532 been argued that firm customers should pay the entire cost 533 in recognition of the underlying design function of these 534 facilities. On the other hand it has been argued that 535 customers should share responsibility for these facilities in 536 proportion to actual use of the facilities. It is generally agreed 537 that it would be unreasonable to allocate 100% on Peak 538 Responsibility, just as it would be unreasonable to allocate 539 100% on Commodity Throughput. Historically the weighting

¹⁶ McKay Exhibit QGC 5.5, p. 3, Docket No. 02-067-02.

- 540used to allocate cost for similar facilities has been between54175/25 and 50/50.
- 542The Cost of Service and Rate Design Task Force looked at543Cost of Service studies based on alternative weightings544between peak and commodity of 75/25, 60/40 and 50/50. No545consensus was reached as to the most appropriate546weighting.
- 547 548

The Company has based its initial Cost of Service study on the middle weighting examined by the Task Force.¹⁷

549 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COMPANY'S EXPLANATION?

550 Α. In part. I do agree that these costs should be assigned on the basis of 551 both demand and throughput. The facilities that are being allocated are 552 used to meet both peak demand as well as provide year-round gas 553 service to customers. However, I disagree with the weighting selected by 554 the Company and recommend a 50-50 weight. While the Company is 555 correct that the 60-40 split is in the middle of those examined by the 556 earlier-referenced task force, this does not serve as strong justification for 557 changing the status quo. As the Company notes, its selected 60-40 558 weighting was not a consensus of the task force in their deliberations. 559 Thus, the historical weighting approach should be preserved.

560 Q. ARE THERE ANY OTHER FACTORS THE COMMISSION SHOULD

561 CONSIDER IN CONTEMPLATING YOUR 50-50 RECOMMENDATION?

562 A. Yes. Factors other than demand and throughput contribute to the cost of 563 these distribution facilities. Customer density, weather at the time of 564 installation, and terrain are all factors that contribute to cost. In fact, the 565 Company's main extension policy specifically references the additional

¹⁷ Response to CCS 25.07.

566 construction costs caused by "...difficult construction problems caused by 567 rock, frost, etc."¹⁸ I believe that these additional factors place a "damper" 568 on moving to the 60-40 weight as proposed by the Company. The use of 569 a 50-50 weighting approach allows these additional factors to be allocated 570 more on a volumetric basis.

571 Q. WHAT IS THE IMPACT OF YOUR RECOMMENDATION?

572 Exhibit CCS-5.2 shows the impact of this recommendation. The Α. 573 Company's proposed commercial class is the largest beneficiary, with its 574 rate of return increasing from 10.37 percent to 10.60 percent. The 575 residential class has next largest gain with its rate of return increasing by 576 0.07 percent. All other classes' rates of return decline as a result of this 577 recommendation, with the largest decline occurring in the transportation 578 class.

579 Q. DO YOU HAVE ANY ISSUES WITH ANY OF THE RATE BASE 580 ACCOUNT ALLOCATIONS?

581 A. Yes. I disagree with the Company's methodology to allocate contributions 582 in aid of construction ("CIAC").

583 Q. WHAT ARE YOUR RECOMMENDATIONS?

A. I recommend that the Commission directly assign the CIAC to the class that made the contributions. The Company must keep a record of the class (and customers) from which it collects these charges since, in certain instances, the charges can be refunded. In CCS Data Requests 13-19 through 13-24 Questar provided the actual amount of CIAC

¹⁸ Questar Exhibit 9.5, p. 9-8.

589 collected from each customer class. I have used this information to 590 develop a direct assignment of CIAC in my recommendations. A 591 summary of my recommended changes in the CIAC allocations have been 592 provided in Exhibit CCS-5.3. As depicted on Exhibit CCS-5.2, this 593 recommendation increases the class cost of service results for the 594 residential class, the interruptible service class, and the transportation 595 class.

596Q.DO YOU HAVE ANY DISAGREEMENTS WITH THE COMPANY'S597EXPENSE ACCOUNT ALLOCATIONS?

598 Α. Yes. However, most disagreements stem from the methodology used to 599 allocate the corresponding plant accounts. For example, the Company 600 allocated the cost of Compressor Station Labor & Expenses using the 60 601 percent peak/40 percent throughput factor used to allocate plant. Like my 602 earlier recommendation, I am proposing that this account be allocated 603 based upon 50-50 peak/throughput factor I recommended for the plant 604 account. I am also recommending similar types of adjustments in expense 605 account items to ensure consistency with my earlier plant allocation 606 recommendations.

607 Q. DO YOU HAVE ANY OTHER EXPENSE-RELATED ALLOCATION 608 PROPOSALS?

A. Yes, I have two additional recommendations. The first is related to the
allocation of administrative and general ("A&G") costs and the second is
related to the allocation of income tax expenses.

612 Q. WILL YOU PLEASE DISCUSS YOUR A&G EXPENSE PROPOSALS?

613 Α. Yes, the Company allocated A&G costs using its gross plant factor, which 614 is the total of all plant accounts. I recommend that A&G expenses be 615 allocated using a factor that consists of 75 percent of operations and 616 maintenance ("O&M") expenses and 25 percent distribution throughput. 617 A&G expenses consist of costs such as the president's salary, insurance 618 expenses, planning, purchasing, payroll, human resources, regulatory 619 expenses, and advertising expenses. These functions support the entire 620 operations of the Company, including gas purchasing operations, which 621 are a function of the throughput requirements of its customers. I believe 622 that my recommendation recognizes the diversity of the types of expenses 623 included in A&G accounts.

624 Q. HOW DOES THIS IMPACT THE CCOS RESULTS?

625 Α. Exhibit CCS-5.2 shows a comparison of the cost of service results from 626 changing this one allocation factor. As shown, the residential class' rate of 627 return increases from 7.11 percent to 7.24 percent. The commercial 628 classes' rate of return decreased from 10.37 percent to 10.22 percent. The 629 firm service class's rate of return also decreased from 5.84 percent to 3.35 630 percent. The interruptible service class witnessed the largest decline from 631 negative 0.26 percent to negative 4.94 percent. The transportation class 632 also saw a decline in its rate of return from 0.35 percent to negative 0.46 633 percent.

634 Q. WHAT ARE YOUR RECOMMENDATIONS FOR INCOME TAX635 ALLOCATIONS?

A. The Company initially used rate base as the allocator to distribute income
taxes. I support the change recently made by the Company to allocate
income taxes based upon taxable income for each rate schedule
(consisting of earnings before taxes but after interest expense.)

640 G. Summary of CCOSS Recommendations

641 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE SUMMARIZE YOUR CCOSS
 642 RECOMMENDATIONS?

A. Yes. In summary, I am making the following CCOSS recommendations:

- The Commission should order the Company to provide a cost of service
 study in its next general rate case that includes all customers and all
 customer classes.
- To correct the mismatch between allocating costs and revenues, I
 recommend that the Commission distribute revenue credits using a cost of
 service factor.
- The Commission should require the Company to file its CCOSS using its
 current rate classes in future rate cases. Should the Company choose to
 prepare an additional CCOSS for proposed rate classes, it should not be
 used as a substitute for the current rate structure.
- The Commission should adopt the following alternative allocation factors:

- For small distribution mains, service lines and meters and regulators, a
 75 percent weight on the distribution plant factor and a 25 percent
 weight on the throughput factor should be adopted.
- For main feeder lines, compressor station equipment and measuring
 and regulation station equipment a factor of 50 percent demand and 50
 percent throughput should be adopted.
- 661 CIAC should be directly assigned to the class that made the
 662 contributions.
- A&G expenses should be allocated using a factor consisting of 75
 percent O&M expense and 25 percent distribution throughput.
- Income taxes should be allocated based upon taxable income for each
 rate schedule.

667 Q. HOW DOES THIS CHANGE THE CLASS RATES OF RETURN?

- 668 A. The rates of return achieved by each customer class are:
 - 8.42 percent for the residential class;
 - 8.68 percent for the commercial class;
- 0.34 percent for the firm service class;

669

670

673

- (5.07) percent for the interruptible service class; and
 - (4.12) percent for the transportation class.

These compare to the Company's overall achieved rate of return of 7.39 percent. Under Questar's methodology all classes earn below the achieved rate of return except the commercial class (proposed GS-C). In contrast, under my recommended changes, the re-estimated CCOSS finds that the firm service, interruptible service, and transportation service
classes earn below the Company's overall achieved rate of return. A
comparison of the Company's CCOSS results (rate base and income
statement) and those estimated under my recommended changes has
been provided in Exhibits CCS-5.4 and CCS-5.5. Exhibit CCS 5.4 depicts
the results of the Company's CCOSS and Exhibit CCS 5.5 show the
results of my recommended CCOSS.

685 Q. HOW WILL THESE PROPOSED CHANGES IMPACT THE 686 DISTRIBUTION OF THE PROPOSED REVENUE DEFICIENCY?

- 687 If my CCOS recommendations are adopted, the distribution of the Α. 688 proposed revenue deficiency (based upon full cost of service) will tend to 689 move away from the current GS-1 customers, and towards the remaining 690 customer classes. As shown on Exhibit CCS 5.5, both the GSR and GSC 691 classes show a small revenue sufficiency, while the remaining classes 692 show a revenue deficiency. I recommend that the GSR and GSC revenue 693 sufficiency of \$703,790 be distributed to the remaining classes in 694 proportion to their revenue deficiency.
- 695 IV. Rate Design
- 696 A. Rate Design Objectives

697 Q. WHAT CRITERIA OR PRINCIPLES DID YOU RELY UPON WHEN

698 DEVELOPING YOUR RATE DESIGN RECOMMENDATIONS?

A. I relied upon the following principles in developing my recommendationsconcerning rate design.

- 701 1) Rates should be fair, just and reasonable, and not unduly702 discriminatory.
- 703 2) Rates should avoid rate shock, to the extent possible. Gradualism704 should be used to protect customers from rate shock.
- 3) Rate continuity should be maintained.
- 706 4) Rates should be cost based, but class cost of service ("COS") results
 707 should not be the only factor considered when developing rates.
- 5) Rates should be understandable to customers.

709 Q. HOW ARE THE ABOVE CRITERIA USED IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF

710 RATES FOR CUSTOMERS?

- 711 It is necessary to consider all of the principles enumerated above although Α. 712 the weighting of these can change depending on the importance of certain 713 policy goals. The formulation of rate design is important because it strikes 714 the balance between setting fair, just, and reasonable rates on the one 715 hand, and establishing a mechanism by which regulated utilities are 716 allowed to recover their allowed revenue requirement. Because there is 717 no pre-set universally-accepted formula for developing rates, judgment is 718 often necessary in formulating a rate design that meets these objectives.
- 719 B. Basic Service Fee

720 Q. WHAT IS A BASIC SERVICE FEE ("BSF")?

A. A BSF is a monthly fixed charge assessed to customers based on the type
of installed meter and the pressure level of the gas flowing through that
meter. This fee is often called a "customer charge" and is typically fixed

regardless of the amount of gas consumed. During the Company's last rate case, the parties to the settlement agreed to change the name of the customer charge to a "Basic Service Fee."¹⁹

727 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE DISCUSS THE COMPANY'S PROPOSED 728 CHANGES TO THE BSF?

A. The Company proposes to increase its BSF for all meter categories in
addition to creating a new BSF category for apartment complexes which
has been designated by the Company as "BSF-1." Exhibit CCS-5.6
outlines the current and proposed BSF charges by category.

733 Q. HOW SIGNIFICANT ARE THESE PROPOSED BSF INCREASES?

A All of the proposed increases are significant in percentage terms. Apartment complexes, for instance, would see as much as a 20 percent increase in their BSF under the Company's proposal. A typical residential customer that is charged under the BSF-2 schedule would see a 60 percent increase under the Company's proposal. Larger commercial and industrial customers would see very significant increases in the BSF category, increasing by as much as 145 percent.

Q. FROM A POLICY PERSPECTIVE, DO YOU FIND IT NECESSARY TO INCREASE THESE BSF CHARGES AT THIS TIME?

A. No, rate proposals of this nature are not in keeping with the policy goals of
rate continuity I discussed earlier, nor are they consistent with the
Commission's efforts at promoting energy efficiency.

¹⁹Commission Order, Docket No. 02-057-02, p. 18.

746 Q. WHY IS THIS TYPE OF RATE DESIGN PROPOSAL INCONSISTENT 747 WITH THE PROMOTION OF ENERGY EFFICIENCY?

748 Α. It places more costs into the fixed component of rates than in the variable 749 component. In the extreme case of a Straight Fixed Variable rate design, 750 customers will pay the same charge regardless of their usage level. Thus, 751 inefficient customers will pay the same bill as relatively more efficient 752 customers. Such an approach can also be regressive in nature since 753 smaller and less economically advantaged customers, who can have 754 lower total usage, pay the same amount as larger and typically more 755 affluent customers.

756 Q. HOW HAS THE COMPANY RESPONDED TO THE POSITION THAT ITS
 757 PROPOSALS COULD NEGATIVELY IMPACT ENERGY EFFICIENCY
 758 GOALS?

A. In response to CCS Data Request 9.15, the Company responded that its proposed increase in the BSF was unrelated to its conservation goals: "The proposal is a cost-based proposal and is unrelated to the Company's goal of conservation. The proposal affects the relative level of BSF, as opposed to the absolute level of the BSF."²⁰

764 Q. WHAT IS THE BASIS FOR THE COMPANY'S PROPOSAL TO 765 INCREASE ITS METER-SPECIFIC BSF?

A. The primary reason rests with the method by which costs are allocated
into the BSF. This approach differs from past, Commission-approved
methods.

²⁰ Response to CCS 9.15.
769 Q. HOW DOES THE COMPANY'S METHODOLOGY DIFFER FROM PAST

770 **APPROACHES?**

A. The most significant difference is the Company's proposal to include 50 percent of the mains cost to all customers and not just interruptible customers as has been done in the past. The Company's rationale for this change in cost allocation rests with its premise that nearly every customer requires some main with the exception of those larger customers receiving high-pressure service.²¹

777 Q. DID THE COMPANY EXAMINE ANY OTHER COST ALLOCATION 778 METHODOLOGIES RELATIVE TO ITS BSF RATE PROPOSAL?

779 Α. Yes. The Company also presented a comparison of alternative methods 780 of calculating the BSF where a range of zero to 33 percent of the mains 781 costs are included in the calculation of the BSF. Greater shares of service 782 lines, as well as meters and regulators, were also considered in this 783 analysis. A summary of these calculations have been provided in CCS 784 Exhibit 5.7. The latter two methodologies were designed to produce the 785 same numeric result as the recommended method for the Type II BSF 786 (i.e., the Company's primary proposal). In other words, the percentage of 787 mains, meters, and services was apparently changed to meet the same 788 price level as estimated under the Type II BSF approach.

789 Q. HAS THE COMPANY INCLUDED ANY OTHER COSTS IN ITS 790 CALCULATION OF THE BSF?

²¹ Bateson Updated Testimony, Lines 345-353.

A. Yes. In addition to the capital costs associated with mains, service lines, and meters and regulators, the Company's BSF calculation also includes the cost of the operations and maintenance ("O&M") expenses associated with plant components; customer installation expenses; billing-related expenses, including supervision, meter reading, customer records and collection expenses; and property taxes associated with the plant investment.

798 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THIS METHODOLOGY?

A. No. The approach has a number of potential flaws that include its:

- 800 (1) failure to reduce mains by the collected contributions in aid of 801 construction ("CIAC");
- 802 (2) inconsistency relative to the cost allocation methodology used in the803 CCOSS.

804Q.HOW DOES THE FAILURE TO APPROPRIATELY CREDIT CIAC805IMPACT THE BSF?

A. The Company failed to offset the cost of mains with the CIAC collected
from customers. Therefore, under the two proposed BSF methodologies
which used mains as a component, the BSF is overstated.

809 Q. WHY DO YOU BELIEVE THE COMPANY'S BSF METHODOLOGY IS

- 810 INCONSISTENT WITH OTHER ASPECTS OF ITS CCOSS?
- A. First, the Company has used three different methodologies, which
 indicates that it has not followed the approach used in its CCOSS. For
 example, under its preferred approach the Company included 51.78

814 percent of the investment costs of service lines, mains and meters & 815 regulators in the BSF. However, in its class cost of service study, it 816 allocated these costs using its DPFS which is an allocation factor 817 analogous to a customer factor. Therefore, while in its CCOSS it 818 assumed these costs were 100 percent customer related, it has assumed 819 51.78 percent of these costs are customer related its BSF calculations.

820 Q WHAT ABOUT EXPENSES?

A. Similar problems exist with expenses. For example, the Company assigned 100 percent of the supervision, customer records, collection, and interest expense on customer deposits to the BSF. However, in its CCOSS it allocated 75 percent supervision and customer records expenses on the basis of customers. The Company did not assign any portion of collection expenses and interest expense on the basis of the number of customers for cost of service purposes.

828 Q. WHAT ARE YOUR RECOMMENDATIONS REGARDING THE 829 COMPANY'S BSF PROPOSAL?

A. The Commission should reject the proposals to increase the BSF. The
Company is proposing to include costs that aren't justified as part of a
customer charge. Further putting in this level of costs in a customer
charge is contrary to the goals of conservation.

834 Q. WHAT GUIDANCE DID THE COMMISSION GIVE IN ITS LAST ORDER 835 WHICH ADDRESSED THIS SUBJECT?

A. The Commission found that only costs associated with plant that is on the customer's premises should be included in the BSF. The Commission identified these costs as: service lines, meters, regulators and the related costs such as taxes and return. This finding would therefore not allow the inclusion of the mains as proposed by the Company as they are not on the customer's premises. The Commission also found that:

842 Expenses that should be included in a customer charge 843 calculation are those expenses which are caused by every 844 customer each month. Costs that generally increase with the 845 number of customers, but are not caused by each customer 846 should be excluded from the customer charge and instead 847 included in the commodity portion of Mountain Fuel's rates.²²

848

849

C. General Service

850 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE DISCUSS THE COMPANY'S GENERAL 851 SERVICE RATE DESIGN PROPOSALS?

852 Yes. The Company is proposing to separate the current General Service Α. 853 Class (GS-1) into two separate components: a general service residential 854 class (GS-R) and a general service commercial class (GS-C). The 855 purpose of this separation appears to be based on the goal to create two 856 more homogenous customer classes, with similar usage levels and 857 patterns, than what exists under the current GS-1 rate structure. Even 858 with this proposal, the new GS-C class will still have a considerable 859 degree of heterogeneity since the class can represent customers from a 860 small retail establishment to a large hotel or shopping mall.

²² Order, Case No. 82-057-15, p. 27.

861 Q. HOW DID THE COMPANY DIFFERENTIATE CUSTOMERS BETWEEN 862 RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL ACCOUNTS?

A. Current billing practices do not clearly identify current GS-1 customers as
being strictly residential or commercial. These customers do however pay
different sales tax rates. The Company therefore, used this information to
separate existing GS-1 customers into the new GS-R and GS-C classes.

867 Q. DO YOU SUPPORT THE COMPANY'S PROPOSAL TO SEPARATE 868 THE GS-1 CLASS?

869 Α. In part. As noted earlier, there can be significant differences between the 870 relatively heterogeneous commercial class and the more homogeneous 871 residential class that might support the separation of these two groups into 872 separate rate classes. However, simply splitting these classes based 873 upon tax rates may not be the most appropriate manner for developing 874 two new classes. Numerous commercial customers, representing as 875 much as a third of the proposed GS-C class have usage patterns (or at 876 least levels) that are very similar to residential customers. These smaller 877 commercial customers, like their residential counterparts, use natural gas 878 for primarily for space and water heating. Thus, it may make more sense 879 to develop these new customer classes from a usage perspective rather 880 than a tax rate perspective.

881 Q. HOW WOULD YOU PROPOSE TO RE-FORM THESE TWO NEW 882 CUSTOMER CLASSES?

A. I recommend that the Commission consider establishing a GS (general service) and GS-L (general service, large) class. All residential customers and small commercial customers with a maximum monthly usage of 100
Dth or less, would be eligible for service under the GS class. Those commercial-only customers with maximum use per customer greater than 100 Dth would be included in the GS-L class.

889 Q. HOW DID YOU SET THE THRESHOLD POINT (100 DTH) FOR THE GS 890 CLASS?

891 Α. The threshold was based upon an analysis that utilized bill frequency, 892 customer and usage data provided by the Company in Response to CCS 893 26.10. The analysis initially examined residential usage to develop an 894 appropriate "break-point" for determining "like" use within the residential 895 class. A cumulative frequency distribution was then developed from the 896 most recent peak month (January 2007) to determine the usage level that 897 included 97 percent of all residential usage. This resulted in an estimated 898 threshold point of roughly 100 Dth. Thus, residential customers with 899 usage above this level were defined as having significantly different 900 (larger) usage than other residential customers and more appropriately 901 allocated into a GS-L class. In addition, commercial customers with usage 902 below the 100 Dth level were defined as being similar in nature (level) to 903 residential usage, and allocated to the new GS class.

904 Q. HOW WILL THESE NEW CLASSES BE DISTRIBUTED?

A. Based upon 2007 data, close to 100 percent of all residential customers
and about 97 percent of all residential usage will be assigned to the new
GS class if my proposal is accepted. Some 90 percent of all commercial
customers and 31 percent of all commercial usage will also be assigned to
the new GS class.

910 Q. WHY DID YOU PICK A 98 PERCENT LEVEL ON THE CUMULATIVE 911 DISTRIBUTION?

A. All of the data that is "under" the 98 percent level can be said to represent
observations that are not statistically different at commonly accepted
levels and more likely to be similar than observed usage levels above this
significance threshold. Those observations of usage that were greater
than 100 Dth can be said to be "significantly different," relative to the
overall distribution.

918 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE DISCUSS THE COMPANY'S CURRENT GS-1 919 DECLINING BLOCK RATE STRUCTURE?

A. Yes. The Company's current GS-1 rate schedule is based upon a
declining block rate structure with the first block set at one rate for the first
45 Dth of usage and a lower rate for usage above 45 Dths. The current
rate structure also includes a seasonal differential that prices gas
distribution service at a higher rate during winter peak months than
summer off-peak months.

926 Q. IS THE COMPANY PROPOSING TO MAINTAIN THIS BASIC 927 DECLINING BLOCK RATE STRUCTURE FOR THE NEW RESIDENTIAL 928 CLASS?

A. No, the Company is instead proposing a constant rate per Dth across all
levels of usage for residential customers. The Company is making this
recommendation based upon its perception that a uniform rate is easier
for customers to understand and will help promote conservation, and that
the upper tail rate has been infrequently used in the past.²³

934 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COMPANY'S UNIFORM FIXED RATE 935 PROPOSAL?

A. Yes. Given current energy prices, as well as the high cost of infrastructure
development, this is a unique time for the Commission to consider a
movement away from a declining block rate structure and towards one
that is more uniform to encourage conservation. I recommend that both
classes have uniform (i.e., non-declining block) rate structures.

941 Q. HAS THE COMPANY PROPOSED A SIMILAR UNIFORM RATE FOR

942 COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS IN THE NEW GS-C CLASS?

A. No, the Company is proposing a three-block structure for the GS-C rate
class, the first block consisting of the first 45 Dth, the second consisting of
usage over 45 Dth up to 200 Dth, and the third above 200 Dth. The
Company's rationale for this structure is that smaller commercial
customers typically have usage patterns similar to the residential
customers; therefore, the first block stops at 45 Dth, and the rate proposed

²³Robinson Updated Testimony, Lines 500-508.

949 is the same as the residential rate. The intention of this design is to
950 eliminate controversy and curtail the attempt of some residential and
951 commercial customers to switch rate classes.²⁴ The structure of the
952 second and third blocks was designed to provide consistency between the
953 GSC and FS rate schedules since some customers will be required to
954 move from the GSC rate schedule to the FS schedule and vice-versa
955 because of the 40 percent load factor requirement on the FS schedule.²⁵

956 Q. WHAT INFORMATION DID THE COMPANY PROVIDE TO SUPPORT

957 THE USAGE BLOCKS UPON WHICH ITS GS-C RATES ARE BASED?

958 The Company's testimony and exhibits did not provide a considerable Α. 959 amount of information to support neither the class separation (between 960 GS-R and GS-C) nor the intra-class rate block segmentation for the 961 proposed GS-C class. The Company did define a type of regression 962 analysis in Response to CCS Data Request 8.15 that examined the usage 963 patterns for commercial customers that would comprise the proposed GS-964 C class. This statistical analysis was based off bill frequency data for 36 965 months ending in June 2007. The proposed blocks that were modeled in 966 the analysis include usage blocks from 0 to 45 Dth, 46 to 200 Dth, and 967 usage above 200 Dth.

968 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COMPANY'S DECLINING BLOCK RATE 969 PROPOSAL?

²⁴ Robinson Testimony, Lines 530-532.

²⁵ Robinson Testimony, Lines 514-521.

970 Α. No. The proposal is inconsistent with both the Company's stated 971 conservation goals as well as its pricing proposals for the GS-R class. 972 Further, even if the Company's GS-C rate design proposal is accepted, 973 given the low load factor for the GS-C class, offering decreased rates to 974 stimulate additional usage does not appear to be supportable since it is 975 unlikely that additional usage will create any measurable improvement in 976 these customers' load factor. The only benefit of a declining block rate 977 structure will be to stimulate additional usage which is contrary to the 978 goals of conservation. A more uniform rate structure, like that proposed 979 for the GS-R class (or my proposed GS class), should be adopted.

980 D. Winter-Summer Rate Differentials

981 Q. WOULD YOU DISCUSS THE COMPANY'S CURRENT 982 WINTER/SUMMER RATE DIFFERENTIALS?

983 Α. Yes. Like many LDCs, the Company charges lower per-unit rates for off-984 peak summer months (April through October) than it does for on-peak 985 winter months (November through March). In the past, the purpose of this 986 rate differential (or seasonal spread) has been to provide a discount for 987 customers that use natural gas more evenly during the course of the 988 overall year. Under the current GS-1 rate design, summer rates are 989 roughly 19 percent below winter rates for the first block and 33 percent 990 below winter rates for the second block.

991 Q. WHAT IS THE COMPANY PROPOSING IN THIS RATE CASE?

A. For the GS-R rate class and the first block of the GS-C rate class, the
Company is proposing to decrease summer rates by 16 percent and
increase winter rates by 1 percent. This increases the seasonal spread to
43 percent – considerably higher than the current spread under the GS-1
rate structure of 19 percent. These spreads increase to 43 percent and 76
percent for the upper two blocks of the newly proposed GS-C class.

998 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THIS PROPOSAL?

999 The proposed spreads are too significant relative to their historic Α. No. 1000 trends. Like declining block rates, it is probably time for LDCs and their 1001 respective Commissions to think about these seasonal differentials and 1002 the signals they potentially send for natural gas usage. While summer 1003 usage has historically been considered off-peak, and still is, usage during 1004 this season is beginning to increase considerably and is likely to continue 1005 to increase as more and more power generation is fired by natural gas. 1006 This is not an argument for eliminating the seasonal differential entirely, 1007 but the relative differences should not be increased.

1008 E. Natural Gas Vehicle Rates and Leasing Program

1009 Q. CAN YOU PLEASE EXPLAIN THE COMPANY'S NATURAL GAS 1010 VEHICLE EQUIPMENT LEASE PROGRAM?

A. Yes. The Company currently offers a program where it leases NGV
equipment to customers who meet certain requirements and agree to sign
a lease agreement. The equipment under lease includes both natural gas
motor vehicle conversion equipment and natural gas compressors and

1015 fueling equipment. The equipment is installed at the customer's expense 1016 and the Company will repair, alter and maintain the equipment at the 1017 Company's expense during the term of the lease.

1018 Q. WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS PROGRAM?

1019 Α. Approved in Docket No. 92-057-04, the natural gas vehicle equipment 1020 lease program was implemented to help "jump-start" the use of natural 1021 gas as an alternative fuel for vehicles and to promote the development of 1022 the refueling infrastructure necessary to serve the local NGV market. At 1023 the time, the up-front cost of vehicle conversions was estimated at \$2,500 1024 to 3,500 per vehicle and considered to be a major factor reducing the 1025 attractiveness of vehicle conversions to natural gas as a primary fuel. The 1026 leasing program was developed to help spread those costs over time, making conversion opportunities more attractive.²⁶ 1027

1028 Q. WHAT IS THE COMPANY'S PROPOSAL REGARDING THIS 1029 PROGRAM?

A. The Company is proposing to eliminate its natural gas vehicle equipment lease program on a forward-going basis since it is no longer needed. The Company has noted that it believes the appropriate refueling infrastructure is in place and there are few barriers preventing customers from purchasing NGV equipment services. Further, there have been no new lease agreements signed over the past seven years. The Company

²⁶ Docket 92-057-04, Report and Order Issued July 2, 1992.

1036 currently only has eight customers under contract and it intends to honor1037 the terms of the existing NGV equipment leases.

1038 Q. DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COMPANY'S PROPOSAL?

1039 Α. Yes. I agree that many of the original purposes of the program appear to 1040 have been met. Further, the relative economics of natural gas use in 1041 vehicles has changed considerably since the inception of this program. 1042 Currently, high retail gasoline and diesel prices make the conversion to 1043 natural gas much more economic and reduce the need for a subsidized 1044 lease agreement. Further, having the Company exit this business may 1045 help facilitate a broader, more competitive market since it will open up 1046 opportunities for third-parties to offer this service.

1047 Q. CAN YOU DESCRIBE THE PURPOSE OF THE COMPANY'S NATURAL

1048 GAS VEHICLE RATE?

A. The Company's NGV rate is used to recover a portion of the cost of
service for refueling natural gas-powered vehicles with compressed
natural gas at Company-owned refueling stations.

1052 Q. HOW HAVE RATES BEEN HISTORICALLY SET FOR THIS CLASS?

A. The original NGV rate was established in Docket No. 89-057-15 as a costbased rate based on the levelized cost of service of NGV compression facilities over their expected life.²⁷ Since that time the NGV customer class has been treated as a revenue credit in the cost of service and the rate has changed on a percentage-wise basis with each Commission-

²⁷ Response to CCS 16.04

1058 ordered change in DNG rates. The commodity and SNG portions of this
1059 rate have reflected the rates approved in the Company's semi-annual
1060 pass through cases.

1061 Q. WHAT ARE THE PARTICIPATION LEVELS AND USAGE FOR THIS

- 1062 **CLASS?**
- A. According to the Company, the demand for NGV fuel has more than doubled in the last 5 months. In the first 5 months of 2008, 988,325
 gallons of compressed natural gas were sold at Company-owned stations.
 This represents an increase of almost 110 percent compared to the first six months of 2007. Overall trends show a 33 percent increase in historic volumes from 2005 through 2007. The Company projects a decrease in natural gas vehicle use for 2008 (to 155,682 Dth).²⁸

1070 Q. WHAT ARE THE RELATIVE ECONOMICS OF USING NATURAL GAS

1071 AS OPPOSED TO GASOLINE OR DIESEL FOR AUTOMOTIVE FUEL?

1072 A. Natural gas becomes increasingly more attractive as a vehicle fuel as
1073 retail prices for gasoline and diesel increase. Nationwide and regional
1074 prices for conventional gasoline, diesel fuel, and compressed natural gas
1075 for vehicle use are shown in Exhibit CCS-5.8. In the Rocky Mountain
1076 region, the difference between gasoline and CNG on a gallon-gas
1077 equivalent ("GGE") is \$2.09. The difference between diesel and CNG is
1078 even higher at \$2.74.

1079 Q. HOW DO THE RELATIVE ECONOMICS STACK UP IN UTAH?

²⁸ Response to CCS 8.04.

A. In its most recent fuel price report, the U.S. Department of Energy ("DOE")
shows that Utah has one of the highest cost differentials for natural gas
relative to gasoline in the U.S. as seen in Exhibit CCS-5.9. The DOE data
also shows that Utah is also one of four states with the highest price
differential relative to diesel fuel. Graphs of the relative differences in fuel
prices on a GGE basis have been provided in CCS-5.10.

1086 Q. SHOULD THE NGV RATE CONTINUE TO BE SUBSIDIZED?

1087 No. In the dockets approving the NGV rate and the equipment lease Α. 1088 program, the goal was to encourage and even "jump-start" the use of natural gas as an alternative fuel for vehicles. It was found that the local 1089 1090 NGV market would "not develop without a Mountain Fuel-provided 1091 program to encourage the development of the refueling infrastructure and in converting vehicles to create demand for refueling facilities."²⁹ Now 1092 with the 'tremendous interest'³⁰ in NGVs and increased demand, there is 1093 1094 no need to support this market by providing a "jump start" through a 1095 subsidized rate.

1096 F. Extension Charges

1097 Q. CAN YOU PLEASE EXPLAIN THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN A MAIN

1098 EXTENSION CHARGE AND A SERVICE LINE EXTENSION CHARGE?

1099 A. Yes. Generally, these are both charges that the Company assesses to
1100 new customers, especially those that are in more remote or newly
1101 expanding areas. A main extension charge is designed to cover the cost

²⁹ Docket 92-057-04, Report and Order Issued July 2, 1992.

³⁰ Questar Gas Company website; <u>http://www.questargas.com/FuelingSystems/NGV/ngv.html</u>.

of developing a new main to serve a new customer, while the service line
extension charge covers the costs of providing a service line to a new
customer's premise.

1105 Q. WHAT COSTS ARE INCLUDED IN THE MAIN EXTENSION CHARGE?

A. The Company's proposed tariff identifies several items that are part of the main extension costs. These main extension costs include, but are not limited to: pipe; trenching; asphalt and cement cuts; asphalt and cement replacement; fill and compaction; rights-of-way costs; permit fees; use of special equipment and facilities; accelerated work schedules, special crews or overtime wages to meet the applicant's request; or difficult construction problems due to rock, frost, etc.³¹

1113 Q. WHAT COSTS ARE INCLUDED IN A THE COMPANY'S SERVICE

1114 EXTENSION CHARGES?

A. The Company's proposed tariff includes the cost of pipe, pipe installation,
and meter and regulator costs.³²

1117 Q. CAN CUSTOMERS OFFSET PART OF THE COST OF NEW LINE

1118 **EXTENSIONS?**

- A. Yes, the Company's tariff has explicit provisions that assist customers withthe costs associated with new service extension (main and service line).
- 1121 A specific dollar amount is applied as a credit to the customers'
- 1122 construction costs and is characterized as an "allowance."

³¹ Questar Exhibit 9.5, p. 9-8.

³² Ibid, p. 9-11.

1123Q.WOULD YOU PLEASE EXPLAIN THE COMPANY'S POLICY1124REGARDING THE RESIDENTIAL MAIN CONSTRUCTION1125ALLOWANCE?

1126 Α. The Company's policy is separated into two general classifications: one 1127 policy for those extensions anticipated to cost under \$3,000 per residence; 1128 and a different policy for those over the \$3,000 per residence threshold. 1129 Customers that are anticipated to incur costs below the threshold level 1130 receive a fixed \$645 per residence allowance if both gas space and water 1131 heating are used in the home. If a customer does not utilize both gas 1132 space and water heating, then the Company will determine a lesser 1133 amount based upon projected usage and other Company policy factors 1134 that are not defined in the Company's tariff.³³

1135 Q. DO CUSTOMERS NOT UTILIZING NATURAL GAS FOR SPACE AND 1136 WATER HEATING GET ANY ALLOWANCES?

1137 Yes, but they are at somewhat lower amounts. According to the Α. 1138 Company, new customers that do not have both gas water and space 1139 heating occurs very rarely; in fact, occurring only five times in the last four 1140 years.³⁴ To the extent this situation does occur, customers are given perappliance credits for the types of gas appliances that included in the home 1141 1142 such as ranges, dryers, spa heaters, and gas fireplace logs, to name a 1143 few.

³³ Questar Proposed Natural Gas Tariff, p. 9-7.

³⁴ Response to CCS 13-20.

1144 Q. WHAT HAPPENS IF THE ACTUAL EXTENSION COSTS EXCEED THE

1145 ALLOWANCE FOR CUSTOMERS UNDER THE \$3,000 THRESHOLD?

1146 A. These customers are expected to pay what is referred to as a 1147 "Contribution in Aid of Construction" ("CIAC") that is an amount equal to 1148 the difference between the actual cost and the allowance.

1149 Q. DO COMMERCIAL CUSTOMERS GET THE SAME CONSTRUCTION 1150 ALLOWANCE RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS?

1151 A. No. The Company will provide a main extension for commercial 1152 customers, provided the main extension cost does not exceed the 1153 allowance cost, based upon the following formula: $2.5((T \times N) + BSF)$ 1154 where T=Estimated annual usage in Dth, N=Non-gas-cost rate component 1155 in \$/Dth, and BSF=Total yearly Basic Service Fee.³⁵ If the cost is in 1156 excess of the allowance, the customer will pay the difference, which is 1157 booked as CIAC by the Company.

1158 Q. HOW DOES THE COMPANY TREAT INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS AND

1159 RESIDENTIAL EXTENSIONS THAT HAVE COSTS EXCEEDING THE1160 \$3,000 THRESHOLD?

1161 A. Interruptible and industrial customer extensions, residential extensions 1162 estimated to cost \$3,000 or more per premises, main extensions direct 1163 from the Company's high-pressure main lines, and main extensions not 1164 specifically covered in the proposed tariff are made at the option of the

³⁵ Questar Proposed Natural Gas Tariff, Page 9-7.

1165 Company and subject to terms and conditions that are based on Company 1166 policies³⁶ and agreed upon between the Company and the applicant.

1167Q.WHAT IS THE COMPANY'S ALLOWANCE FOR RESIDENTIAL1168SERVICE LINE EXTENSIONS?

A. The allowance to install a service line for customers that have space and
water heating is \$405, for a dryer \$50, and for a range \$50. If a customer
does not install both space and water heating, the Company will determine
a lesser allowance based upon a per-appliance schedule.³⁷

1173Q.DOES THE COMPANY HAVE A SPECIFIC ALLOWANCE FOR1174COMMERCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL CUSTOMERS?

A. No. The service extension allowance for non-residential customers are
not defined in the tariff and are made under the terms and conditions
agreed to by the Company and the applicant. According to the Company's
Response to CCS Data Request 22-13, the Company does not provide
allowances to commercial customers for line extensions.³⁸

1180 Q. DID THE COMMISSION MAKE ANY CHANGES TO THE MAIN OR

1181 SERVICE EXTENSION ALLOWANCE IN THE LAST RATE CASE?

A. Yes. The last rate case was settled, and part of the settlement approved by the Commission addressed main and service allowances. Prior to Docket No. 02-057-02, a customer requiring a main or service-line extension was granted a "footage allowance" based on the natural gas appliances to be installed at the residence. Similar to the current policy,

³⁶ The policies are not defined in the tariff.

³⁷ Response to CCS 13-25.

³⁸ Response to CCS 22-13.

- 1187construction costs for footage greater than the allowance were paid by1188customers. This practice was in place since the Commission's Order in1189Docket No. 87-057-13. The Company also accounted for these1190contributions as revenue as opposed to reductions to rate base. In Docket
- 1191 No. 02-057-02, the parties agreed, and the Commission approved, several
- changes to prior practices:
- 1193The Parties have also agreed that §§9.01 and 9.02 of QGC's1194Tariff should be revised to terminate the various footage1195allowances currently granted to new residences. In place of1196the footage allowances, the stipulation proposes that a1197general main-extension allowance of \$645 be granted for a1198new residential premises that will incorporate natural gas-1199fired space heat and water heat when completed.
- 1200 With respect to service-line extensions, the revised §9.02 would provide an additional \$505 allowance for a residence 1201 utilizing space heat and water heat, with \$100 of this 1202 1203 allowance being dependent upon the premises being "stubbed" for a dryer and natural gas range. In addition, the 1204 Parties agreed to the termination of the current new-1205 1206 premises fee for GS-1 customers who initiate service. This current fee is \$12 per month for the first 12 months of 1207 1208 service.
- 1209The Parties agreed that default payments received from1210main and service-line extension contracts should also be1211treated as a CIAC and, therefore, as a reduction of rate1212base. Likewise, the Parties agreed that any interest accruing1213from such default payments should be treated consistently1214with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).³⁹

1215 Q. WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF A LINE EXTENSION POLICY?

- 1216 A. A line extension policy is designed to recover excess costs from new
- 1217 customers connecting to the system. It can for example, preserve the cost
- 1218 of a new connection relative to the embedded cost of the old connection.

³⁹ Commission Order 02-057-02, pp. 18-19.

1219 In other words, by charging new customers CIAC associated with the 1220 higher cost of a new connection relative to the embedded cost, the 1221 intergenerational inequities between old and new customers is minimized. 1222 Thus, if a utility's cost to connect a new customer exceeds the value the 1223 new connection contributes, the excess cost should be allocated to the 1224 new customer.

1225Q.HAVE YOU EXAMINED THE COMPANY'S CURRENT MAIN AND1226SERVICE EXTENSION ALLOWANCES RELATIVE TO THE COST TO1227SERVE NEW CUSTOMERS AND THE EMBEDDED COST OF THESE1228FACILITIES INCLUDED IN RATE BASE?

1229 Yes. My analysis is presented on Exhibit CCS-5.11. This exhibit depicts Α. 1230 the embedded cost to serve existing customers compared to the cost to 1231 serve new customers. As shown in the exhibit, the average embedded 1232 cost of mains for residential customers is \$302 compared to an average 1233 cost to serve new residential customers of \$937. For commercial 1234 customers, the average embedded cost of mains is \$464 compared to the 1235 average cost for a new customer of \$1,436. In both instances the cost to 1236 serve new customers is much higher than existing customers. The same 1237 relationship holds for services and meters. For residential customers, the 1238 existing cost of services and meters is \$299, whereas the cost to serve 1239 new customers is \$1,224 – over four times the embedded cost. A similar 1240 relationship holds true for commercial customers: the embedded cost of

services and meters is \$757 compared to an average cost to serve new
customers of \$2,561 – again, almost four times the embedded cost.

1243 Q. IF THE COST TO SERVE NEW CUSTOMERS IS SUBSTANTIALLY 1244 MORE THAN THE COST TO SERVE EXISTING CUSTOMERS, HOW 1245 CAN THIS DISCREPANCY BE RESOLVED OR MINIMIZED?

1246 The discrepancy can be resolved or minimized by "recalibrating" the Α. 1247 Company's main and service extension policy such that the amount of 1248 CIAC collected from new customers is closer to the difference between 1249 current costs and embedded costs. To be in perfect alignment, the 1250 amount of the extension allowance permitted in the extension policy would 1251 be equal to the embedded cost for the facilities. In other words, if the extension allowance were exactly equal to the embedded cost of the plant, 1252 1253 the amount of CIAC collected from new customers would eliminate the 1254 potential intergenerational inequities between existing customers to new 1255 customers.

1256 Q. HAVE YOU MADE A COMPARISON TO DEMONSTRATE THE 1257 ADDITIONAL AMOUNT OF CIAC REQUIRED FROM NEW 1258 CUSTOMERS то ELIMINATE REDUCE THESE OR 1259 INTERGENERATIONAL INEQUITIES?

A. Yes. This comparison is shown in the third column of Exhibit CCS-5.11.
For residential customers, the amount of CIAC required from current
customers would be \$635 for mains and \$926 for services and meters.
For commercial customers, the amount of CIAC required would be \$972

1264 for mains and \$1,804 for services and meters. The fifth column of this 1265 exhibit shows the average amount of CIAC actually collected from 1266 The difference between the required and actual CIAC is customers. 1267 shown in the sixth column and represents the CIAC deficiency. The CIAC 1268 deficiency for new residential customers is \$263 for mains and \$654 for 1269 services and meters. For new commercial customers, the deficiency is 1270 \$532 for mains. The Company does not permit a construction allowance for Commercial services and meters⁴⁰ so there should be no deficiency for 1271 1272 this category.

1273 Q. ARE YOU AWARE OF ANY OTHER STATES THAT HAVE RECENTLY

1274 MOVED IN THE DIRECTION OF INCREASING THE CIAC

1275 **REQUIREMENTS OF CUSTOMERS AND DEVELOPERS?**

1276 A. Yes. The Arizona Corporation Commission ("ACC") recently reduced the

1277 construction allowance, thereby increasing the CIAC requirements for

1278 UNS Gas Company. The ACC summarized the Company's request:

1279 In its effort to comply with A.A.C. R14-2-307, UNS prepared an incremental contribution study ("ICS") to determine an 1280 1281 estimate of the costs and benefits of adding a customer to 1282 the system. Under the Company's proposal, the ICS 1283 component would be modified to reduce the credit applied to 1284 new customers or developers per service line or main 1285 extension (thereby increasing the required advances from 1286 new customers and developers). According to the Company, this change would ensure that the cost burden is initially 1287 1288 placed on new customers and developers for main 1289 extensions or line extensions, subject to refund over a five-1290 year period (Tr. at 384-87, 919; Ex. A-35).41

⁴⁰ Response to CCS 22.13.

⁴¹ Arizona Corporation Commission, Order, UNS Gas Docket No. G-04204a-06-0463; Docket No. G-04204a-06-0013; Docket No. G-04204a-05-0831; Decision No. 70011, November 2007.

- 1291 The Commission approved the changes, increasing customer cost from
- 1292 average of \$310 to nearly \$1,000.

1293 We believe that our finding on this issue achieves a result 1294 that is consistent with the rate design concept of gradualism 1295 because, although it represents a significant increase in the 1296 up-front contribution required to be financed by new 1297 customers/developers, it keeps intact the ability of 1298 developers to recapture all or part of the initial investment. At the same time, as described by the Company's witnesses, 1299 1300 approval of this modified proposal avoids the potential 1301 competitive disadvantage that would be faced by UNS Gas if 1302 a fully nonrefundable hook-up fee were to be implemented suddenly. we direct UNS Gas to investigate fully the 1303 1304 issue of developer contributions and present in its next rate 1305 case viable alternatives to the proposal adopted herein, 1306 including but not limited to nonrefundable hook-up fees and 1307 other measures that would hold harmless existing customers and require greater contributions to ensure that growth pays 1308 for itself.⁴² 1309

1310 Q. HAS THE COMMISSION RECENTLY REDUCED THE CONSTRUCTION

- 1311 ALLOWANCE FOR QUESTAR?
- 1312 A. Yes. In the Company's last rate case, Docket No. 02-057-02, the
- 1313 Commission approved a settlement that reduced the construction
- allowance for residential customers. Specifically, the Commission found:
- 1315 "The average CIAC required of new residential customers will be
- 1316 increased by \$250. This results in a \$645 allowance for main extensions
- 1317 and a \$505 allowance for residential service-line extensions."⁴³

1318 Q. DO YOU RECOMMEND THAT THE COMMISSION REDUCE THE

1319 CONSTRUCTION ALLOWANCES BY THE AMOUNT OF THE CIAC

1320 SHORTFALL DEPICTED ON YOUR EXHIBIT CCS-5.11?

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ Commission Order, 02-057-02, p. 26.

A. No, I do not. Like the UNS gas company case, and consistent with the
goal of gradualism and rate continuity, I recommend that the Commission
reduce the amount of the CIAC deficiency by one-third. This would
increase the CIAC paid by current customers and developers thereby
reducing the subsidies between new and existing customers.

1326 Q. WHAT CONSTRUCTION ALLOWANCES DO YOU RECOMMEND?

- 1327 As shown on Exhibit CCS-5.11, I recommend a construction allowance of Α. 1328 \$560 for residential mains and \$150 for residential services and meters. 1329 This recommendation would increase the amount of CIAC collected from 1330 new customers by \$87 for residential main extensions and by \$216 for 1331 services and meters. For the commercial customers, I recommend an 1332 average main construction allowance of approximately \$1,395, which 1333 should result in an average CIAC increase of \$176. Because the 1334 commercial classes' allowance is a function of usage, I recommend 1335 modifying the formula as shown below. This is the same formula as 1336 currently approved by the Commission, but I modified the revenue multiplier from the current 2.5 times revenue to 2.20 times revenue to 1337 1338 produce an average allowance of \$1,395.
- 1339 <u>Commercial Allowance Formula</u>
- 1340 2.20((TxN)=BSF)
- 1341 Where T= Estimate Annual Usage in Dth
- 1342 N = Non-gas Cost Rate Component in Dth
- 1343 BSF = Total Yearly Basic Service Fee

1344 G. **Rate Design Recommendations** 1345 Q. WOULD YOU PLEASE SUMMARIZE YOUR RATE DESIGN 1346 **RECOMMENDATIONS?** 1347 А I am making the following rate design recommendations: 1348 The Commission should reject the Company's proposals to 1349 increase the BSF. 1350 • The Company's proposal to split the GS-1 class into GS-R and GS-1351 C components should be modified to one that splits the class into 1352 GS and GS-L rate schedules. 1353 All customers with maximum monthly usage of 100 Dth or less • 1354 would take service under the new GS rate schedule. 1355 All customers with maximum monthly usage above 100 Dth would • 1356 take service under the new GS-L rate schedule. 1357 Uniform rates (on dollar per Dth basis) for the GS and GS-L classes • 1358 should be adopted. 1359 The seasonal differential for the GS class should be at 19 percent • 1360 while the differential for the GS-L class should be 33 percent. 1361 The natural gas vehicle equipment lease program should be • 1362 eliminated and the NGV rate should no longer be subsidized. 1363 Line extension allowances should be reduced by one-third. • 1364 Q. DOES THIS COMPLETE YOUR TESTIMONY PREFILED ON AUGUST 18, 2008? 1365 1366 Α. Yes, it does.